D-11111

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 4 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Opinion No. 5257 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 8/6/2014)

09-GS-42-04016

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEFFERSON PERRY,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002519

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the majority of the Court of Appeals erred by holding it was not error to instruct the jury that “time is not a material element of the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor” since the instruction was gratuitous and prejudicial especially since the defense had concentrated on the time factor in challenging the allegation, and it impermissibly charged the jury that the time of the allegation was not important in a child sex case?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding the trial court properly admitted the DVD of the forensic interview since this repetition of the minor making the same allegation on a prior occasion impermissibly bolstered her testimony?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Petitioner was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for the offense of committing a lewd act on a minor on either December 29, 2007 or December 30, 2007. R. 184. The allegation arose from a specific night, petitioner's defense was that the child was confused, and that he never touched her. His case was called to trial on April 10, 2012 before the Honorable John C. Hayes and a jury. Robert Hall represented petitioner. Abel Gray was the assistant solicitor. R. 1.

On April 12, 2012, the jury found petitioner guilty of committing a lewd act on a minor. R. 178, ll. 4-8. Judge Hayes sentenced petitioner to five years imprisonment, suspended on the service of three years. Although petitioner was not given any prison time, he was ordered to register as a sex offender with "electronic monitoring." R. 182, l. 20 – 183, l. 6.

The Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's conviction in State v. Perry, 410 S.C. 191, 763 S.E.2d 603 (2014). Chief Judge Few dissented in part. App. 1-21. Petitioner sought rehearing. App. 22-29. Rehearing was denied. App. 30-31.

This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The majority of the Court of Appeals erred by holding it was not error to instruct the jury that “time is not a material element of the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor” since the instruction was gratuitous and prejudicial especially since the defense had concentrated on the time factor in challenging the allegation, and it impermissibly charged the jury that the time of the allegation was not important in a child sex case.

Relevant trial facts

Wiley Garrett was the “forensic evaluator” in this case. An in camera hearing was held on his testimony. Garrett worked at the Children’s Advocacy Center in Spartanburg. R. 5, l. 10 – 7, l. 22. He had a Master’s degree in social work from the University of South Carolina. R. 6, ll. 1-2.

Garrett said the alleged victim in this case “made a disclosure on both of those dates [February 7, 2008 and February 14, 2008].” R. 8, l. 10 – 10, l. 6. “She made a disclosure of sexual touching which, which, in which she felt uncomfortable.” R. 12, ll. 18-20.

On cross-examination the defense specifically asked Garrett about the video bolstering the child’s testimony which she was also going to present live that day in court for the jury. Garrett admitted: “*It may bolster*, as you say, or it may cause questions. But, again, that’s part of the greater process of which we’re here today.” However, Garrett reasoned: “It would be an advantage to the court to be able to look *at what the child said four years ago to look at what the child said today.*” R. 16, ll. 9-18. (emphasis added).

After Garrett’s in camera testimony, defense counsel objected to the admission of the tape on the grounds it would simply bolster the child’s testimony. “I think it’s just the same thing the child said on purposes [a prior occasion]. I think it’s to bolster what testimony she’s going to give

in the trial, Your Honor, and we would oppose it.” The judge ruled the tape was admissible under S.C. Code § 17-23-175, stating that the child would be subject to cross-examination when she testified. R. 21, ll. 5-14.

The evidence against petitioner in this case was very slim. While that likely explains petitioner not receiving any prison time, he is still branded for life. He must register as a sex offender, and pay the electronic monitoring hefty fee.

The alleged victim was thirteen-years-old at the time of trial, and she was nine-years old at the time of the alleged incident on December 29, 2007. R. 26, l. 10 – 27, l. 2. The minor said the alleged lewd act occurred “a day or two before my real Dad’s birthday.” She offered that her “real Dad’s” birthday was on December 31, 2007, and she confirmed to the solicitor that is how she remembered it so clearly. R. 26, l. 24 – 27, l. 2.

That night the minor remembered several people were over at the mobile home where she was staying. “It was my Nana, him, my Dad, his girlfriend, and my Uncle Bryan’s girlfriend, and this dude named Paul that he knew.” R. 27, ll. 10-13.

There was evidence petitioner had come over that night to help Bryan, who was the boyfriend of his cousin Liz, with yard work the next morning. The minor said she was asleep on the living room floor when petitioner walked into the room with her Uncle Bryan. This was apparently about 10:00 or 11:00 at night after petitioner was picked-up to spend the night. The minor said the television was off at the time. That fact would be disputed, which tested her allegedly clear memory of the “incident.” R. 29, ll. 5-25.

Her allegation was “I was asleep, and whenever his [petitioner Jefferson Perry’s] hand up or, up my pants, I felt his hand and I woke up and I moved.” She maintained: “I woke up and I moved to the couch.” She claimed petitioner followed her to the couch and “he sat down on the couch and

asked me if he could lay his head in my lap.” The minor said she was scared and did not say anything to petitioner. She acknowledged petitioner did not threaten her or her family. R. 31, l. 4 – 33, l. 5. As will be seen infra, the minor was inconsistent on whether the “head in her lap” portion of her allegation actually occurred.

The minor’s allegation was that petitioner reached his hand up the legs of her pants “to my private.” R. 33, l. 2 – 34, l. 7. The defense sought to show the jury that this was a very implausible allegation. The minor admitted she stayed the rest of the week at the home of her father’s family, but she did not tell anybody what allegedly happened. R. 35, l. 4 – 36, l. 6. She supposedly told her mother “it think it was after New Years. I don’t remember.” The solicitor asked if it was “after your father’s birthday?” and the minor answered: “Yes.” She did not tell her mother immediately because: “I was still scared something else was gonna happen.” The minor admitted petitioner “wasn’t nowhere around, but she did not make the allegation to her mother until the middle of January, 2008, “maybe.” R. 35, l. 13 – 38, l. 20.

On cross-examination the minor said “once we fell asleep I turned off the TV and I went in my Dad’s bedroom.” R. 45, ll. 13-15. The minor also said she was wearing brown capris when petitioner allegedly put his hand up her pants. She said petitioner’s hand was “smooth.” She said she did not remember saying his hand was smooth on the video. R. 47, l. 2 – 48, l. 23. The significance of this was that petitioner worked as a laborer cutting down trees daily, and his hands were not soft or smooth.

The minor’s mother testified that she had stayed at her uncle’s house the week of Christmas, 2007. The minor did not tell her about the alleged touching until January 29, 2008. The mother claimed she had seen behavioral changes in the minor after the allegation, including the child

wanting to be alone. However, she admitted the minor did not have any current behavioral problems. R. 50, l. 11 – 54, l. 6.

The minor's stepfather testified that he did not remember the alleged victim ever saying anything about petitioner putting his head in her lap. "She didn't tell me until well after that that he actually laid his head in her lap there." The stepfather said this allegation only came up after the solicitor mentioned it to him. "But we didn't know all that until afterwards." R. 61, l. 13 – 62, l. 5.

Wiley Garrett was the interviewer in this case. When the solicitor moved the February, 2008 interview into evidence, defense counsel Hall announced: "No additional objections."¹ The DVD of the interview was then published for the jury. On cross-examination, Garrett confirmed that the alleged victim that a hand was put down her pants and that his hand was "smooth." She told Garrett her pants were brown and new and that she was also wearing a short-sleeved shirt. She did not allege to Garrett that petitioner put his head in her lap. R. 75, l. 16 – 79, l. 8.

Petitioner took the stand in his own defense. He was not married and he had two children. He had a son, age 20, and a daughter, age 18, who lived with him. Petitioner denied doing anything improper to the alleged victim that night. He was merely there to help his cousin and her boyfriend with the yard work the next morning. They picked him up about ten or eleven that night, and he remembered two children sleeping on the floor. He did not remember the minor well since he really did not pay much to the children sleeping on the floor. "I had never met them before." R. 81, l. 2 – 88, l. 20; R. 111, ll. 9-14.

Petitioner testified that he got up once about two in the morning to use the bathroom. Brittany Fowler was still awake with her colicky baby. Brittany would later testify her son had

colic, and she did not sleep at all that night. Brittany could see straight out into the living room from her bed, and she did not see petitioner touch the alleged victim or go anywhere near her that night. R. 89, l. 1 – 97, l. 25; R. 130, l. 2 – 141, l. 5.

Petitioner also testified the television set was on all night, that he saw Brittany awake that night. He was also not sure which of the two girls actually was on the couch in the morning when he awoke. Petitioner told the solicitor on cross-examination: “I know what I didn’t do.” R. 101, l. 6 – 112, l. 1.

Petitioner added he was not drunk by any estimation and that he could have driven the car when he was picked up that evening and brought to the home of his friends where the alleged victim also spent the night. R. 113, ll. 2-21.

Request to Charge

The solicitor told the judge he wanted a jury instruction that “time was not a material element” in the case, and that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated. Defense counsel objected to an instruction on time not being a material factor, noting:

[W]e have a specific date alleged. They presented it several times. The child testified, if I’m not mistaken, that it occurred the weekend before my daddy’s birthday. Daddy’s birthday was December 31st. Very specific and I think to do that is giving, carving out another special consideration for a child victim that cuts in the rights of my client.

So, Your Honor, I would oppose that.

The Court: I will charge it, but you know the other interesting wrinkle about this particular issue is that the mother, Mrs. Gregory,

¹ The court reporter wrote that Hall said “no addition or objections, Your Honor.” That assertion is inconsistent with the defense objection in this case, and defense counsel states as an officer of the court in affidavit form that he has no additional objection. R. 69, l. 21 – 70, l. 5.

testified that she picked the child up, [minor], on New Years Day. So - - .

Mr. Hall: That - - picked [minor] up, yes, sir.

The Court: Right. Which is before Brittany had her baby.

Mr. Hall: This - - yes, sir, that's another thing that I believe, on my side, is physically impossible for it to have happened beforehand, yes, sir.

The Court: Well, that's your argument to the jury.

R. 148, ll. 7-25.

Defense counsel argued to the jury:

We've got two mothers, a grandmother, two women testifying where the people were. Consistent. I don't know what happened with the investigation of this, why the people weren't talked to, why it took so long. But what we have here is a change in story by the victim that the State is asking you believe some version that it happened in December or January or whatever in 2007, 2008, that the hand went down the pants, didn't move, but did move, went up the pants, didn't move, but did move. That, that's a laborer.

His hands are smooth?

When you consider all this, what [has] the State proven beyond a reasonable doubt, and apply it to the law, they're gonna come up short. There's not credible evidence that you can determine the State has proved, beyond a reasonable doubt, sufficient to convict Jeff Perry and live with that.

I ask you to consider all these things, the inconsistencies, the changes in the stories, who was there, who was not there, when did it happen, how it happened. Consider those things, apply it to the law, do the right thing, come back with a verdict of not guilty.

R. 159, l. 22 – 160, l. 16.

The judge charged the jury that time was not a material element of the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor. He also charged the jury that the testimony of “the victim need not be corroborated.” R. 172, ll. 13-16.

Court of Appeals

The majority of the Court held that it was not convinced “the trial court’s charge in the in the instant matter was prejudicial to [petitioner’s] strategy of highlighting inconsistencies in Victim’s statements concerning the time of the alleged incident.” App. 12. The majority found that counsel “ably argued this inconsistencies to the jury.” The majority cited State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 508, 435 S.E.2d 859, 863 (1993) in support of its holding. App. 12.

Chief Judge Few in dissent wrote that: “In my opinion, the importance of the victim’s credibility also made it improper for the trial court to charge the jury as it did. Although it is true “time is not a material element” of the crime of lewd act on a minor, the fact that it is a correct point of law does not make it proper for the trial court to charge it to the jury. *Compare State v. Rayfield*, 369 S.C. 106, 117, 631 S.E.2d 244, 250 (2006) (‘It is not always necessary, of course, to charge [a particular point of law]’), *with* 369 S.C. at 119, 631 S.E.2d at 251 (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (‘Some principles of law, however, are not to be charged to a jury.’).” App. 17-18.

The dissent also noted that in State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 508, 435 S.E.2d 859, 863 (1993), this Court chose not to address whether giving the charge was error, “but only whether the charge caused prejudice.” App. 19. Further, “trial courts do not normally charge the jury as to what is *not* an element of the crime.” App. 20 (court’s emphasis). The dissent noted that in some instances, such as in State v. Foust, 312 S.C. 12, 15, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51 (1996), an instruction on what is not an element of a crime can be proper. In Foust the instruction was that the state only had to prove a general criminal intent, not a specific intent to kill. “There are no

circumstances in this case that justify the trial court's instruction to the jury that time is not an element of lewd act on a minor. In fact, the circumstances of this case made the instruction improper. Perry built his entire presentation to the jury around what he claimed were the striking inconsistencies in the victim's testimony as to when the crime occurred." App. 20.

Discussion

This Court should grant certiorari based on the well reasoned dissent in the Court of Appeals on this issue. The jury charge on time not being an element of the crime in this case was gratuitous. Petitioner's defense centered on attacking the inconsistencies regarding the Christmas alleged incident, and when it was reported, and who was allegedly around.

In State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), the defense focused its reasonable doubt argument around the State v. Manning, 305 S.C. 413, 409 S.E.2d 372 (1991), jury instruction that "a reasonable doubt is the kind of doubt that would cause a reasonable person to hesitate to act." Id. at 417, 409 S.E.2d at 375.

Not liking the defense strategy of this effective closing argument emphasizing the "hesitate to act" language, the solicitor was successful in having the judge remove this language from his reasonable doubt charge. This Court found this was fundamentally unfair, and prejudicial to the defense.

Here, the defense was anchored in the minor's inconsistencies, and the alleged time when the offense occurred. The solicitor requested this jury instruction to negatively impact on petitioner's defense in the same manner as in State v. Jones. The fact that a time period of when the sex abuse occurred in an indictment can be broad does not mean that the jury instruction that time is not a material element should be given. That is particularly true where the jury instruction is gratuitous and unfairly prejudices the defendant as it did here. See State v. Jones, supra. The

majority of the Court here only held that it found petitioner was not prejudiced by the jury instruction. Petitioner and the dissent both agree that the prejudice from this jury charge, particularly in the context of this case, just in Jones, should be apparent.

The majority noted that counsel ably argue the inconsistencies in the alleged victim's testimony to the jury. However, petitioner was charged right out of a defense when the trial court instructed that those inconsistencies did not matter because "time was not a material element of the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor." Certiorari should respectfully be granted.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the trial court properly admitted the DVD of the forensic interview since repetition of the minor making the same allegation on a prior occasion impermissibly bolstered her testimony.

Relevant facts

Defense counsel correctly here objected that playing the DVD of the minor's statement to the jury was essentially a prior consistent statement that unfairly bolstered her credibility and testimony. Further, as seen, on cross-examination during the in camera hearing the defense specifically asked Garrett about the video bolstering the child's testimony which she was also going to present live that day for the jury.

Garrett admitted: "*It may bolster*, as you say, or it may cause questions. But, again, that's part of the greater process of which we're here today." However, Garrett reasoned: "It would be an advantage to the court to be able to look *at what the child said four years ago to look at what the child said today.*" R. 16, ll. 9-18. (emphasis added).

Garrett ironically captured the whole problem with the DVD here. The jury would conclude she said the same thing, or roughly the same thing, years ago so it must be true. That was the basis of trial counsel's objection to the admission of the tape on the grounds it would simply bolster the child's testimony. "I think it's just the same thing the child said on purposes [a prior occasion]. I think it's to bolster what testimony she's going to give in the trial, Your Honor, and we would oppose it."

Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals held that the "legislature has made 'special allowances' for the admission of out-of-court statements by child victims in criminal sexual conduct cases when the

requirements of Section 17-23-175 are satisfied. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 558, 59, 732 S.E.2d 861, 867 (2012).” App. 13. The Chief Judge concurred on this issue, and he wrote that there were only two instances where it can be argued testimony improperly bolsters other evidence. The first is where a witness offers an opinion regarding the credibility of others. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 358, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013). The second circumstance is a prior consistent statement where the party has not been properly impeached. Therefore, the concurrence concluded the only proper bolstering objections would be pursuant to Rule 608 (a), SCRE, or Rule 802, SCRE. The concurrence also noted that “Conceivably, a trial court could exclude evidence for its bolstering effect under Rule 403, SCRE . . . for considerations listed in the rule.” App. 16. “Other than these rules, however, there is no provision under modern evidence law to exclude relevant evidence on the basis of improper bolstering.” App. 17.

Rehearing

Petitioner argued on rehearing that:

While bolstering in these types of cases often revolves around the forensic interviewer giving the jury the impression he or she believes the child is telling the truth, that is by no means the only form of impermissible bolstering. See Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 689 S.E.2d 629 (2010); Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 551 S.E.2d 260 (2001).

The playing the DVD of the minor’s statement to the jury was essentially **a prior consistent statement that unfairly bolstered her credibility and testimony. Further, as seen, on cross-examination during the in camera hearing the defense specifically asked Garrett about the video bolstering the child’s testimony which she was also going to present live that day in court for the jury. Garrett admitted: “It may bolster, as you say, or it may cause questions. But, again, that’s part of the greater process of which we’re here today.”** R. 16, ll. 9-18. (emphasis added).

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