STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal From Spartanburg County
Hon. John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2014-002519

RECEIVED

JAN - 5 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Jefferson Perry,

Petitioner.

Opinion No. 5257 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 6, 2014)

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The majority of the Court of Appeals properly found the trial court did not commit an error in charging the jury on the correct and applicable law of the case, including the correct statement of law that time is not a material element of the crime.**

The majority of the Court of Appeals correctly found the trial court's charge was a correct statement of the law in South Carolina. The majority of the Court of Appeals also correctly concluded any reference to the correct statement of law did not prejudice Petitioner as it was not unduly emphasized and the trial court gave a full and correct charge on the overall law including the State's burden of proof and the jury's responsibility to determine the credibility of the witnesses. As a result, the trial court did not err in charging the jury.

"An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)). "To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." Id. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 583

A trial court is required to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 73 (2004). A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. See Rayfield, 369 S.C. at 119, 631 S.E.2d at 251; Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 473; State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 231, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006). "A jury charge is correct if, when

the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” Mattison, 388 S.C. at 478, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (citations omitted).

Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989). On review of a jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Lee Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 406, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007).

During the charge conference, the State asked the trial court to charge the jury that time is not a material element of the crime and the minor victim’s testimony did not need to be corroborated. (T.171-172; R. pp. 147-148). Counsel indicated the child testified the lewd act occurred on a specific day and to give the charge that time is not a material element “is giving, carving out another special consideration for a child victim that cuts into the rights of my client.” (T:172; R. p. 148). After Petitioner’s counsel objected, the trial court indicated he would give the requested charges. (T.172-173; R. pp. 148-149). During his charge to the jury, the trial court stated: “Additionally, time is not a material element of the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor.”¹ (T.197; R. p. 172).

Petitioner argues this case is analogous to State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001). In Jones, during the charge conference prior to closing argument, the trial court specifically indicated he would provide the Manning reasonable doubt charge

¹ Neither party corrected the judge’s reference to criminal sexual conduct with a minor as opposed to lewd act charge for which Petitioner was tried and convicted. The law is a correct statement for either crime. If anything, the fact the charge related to criminal sexual conduct and not lewd act, the crime for which the judge told the jury Petitioner was charged, lessens any possible prejudice to Petitioner.

to the jury. As a result, defendant's counsel tailored his argument to the "hesitate to act" language in Manning. Jones, 343 S.C. at 576-577, 541 S.E.2d at 820-821. The State asked the trial court to change the reasonable doubt charge and the court removed that language. Id. at 577, 541 S.E.2d at 821. The South Carolina Supreme Court found it fundamentally unfair for the charge to be altered after counsel relied on the court's statement it would give a specific charge. Id. at 578, 541 S.E.2d at 821-822.

First, this specific issue raised by Petitioner was not preserved for review on appeal and should not have been addressed by the Court of Appeals. Counsel never objected regarding the charge being fundamentally unfair or unfairly restricting the effect of his argument to the jury. He never maintained the court's ruling was similar to the one in Jones. Instead, he simply argued it would give special consideration to the child and that the evidence only indicated a specific date for the incident to have occurred. Petitioner cannot raise one ground at trial and attempt to raise another unrelated ground on appeal. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal); State v. Byram, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997) (party cannot argue one ground below and then argue different ground on appeal). As a result, this issue was not preserved for review on appeal.

On the merits, Petitioner's counsel knew prior to closing argument exactly what charge would be given to the jury. The trial court made it clear the evening before closing arguments were to be given what he would charge. (T.171-173; R. pp. 147-149) Counsel had the benefit of knowing the full charge, including the language that time is not a material element, prior to beginning his closing argument. (T.175-178; R. pp. 150-

153). The trial court charged the jury with the same language the court indicated in the charge conference would be used. (T.197; R. p. 172). In this case, unlike Jones, counsel could have tailored his closing argument to address the language charged and, because no change was made by the trial court in the jury instructions proposed and given, counsel's argument would not have been rendered superfluous as in Jones. In Jones, counsel tried to tailor his argument and then was thwarted by the trial court's change in the jury instruction. The Jones opinion is completely inapposite to the case at hand.

Further, the court gave an appropriate charge on the law of South Carolina. "It is well settled that it is not necessary to prove the precise day, or even year, laid in the indictment, except where time enters into the nature of the offense, or is made part of the description of it." State v. Reynolds, 48 S.C. 384, 26 S.E. 679 (1897). The only exception is when the defendant has noticed an alibi defense.

While it is true that the State need not prove the exact date set forth in the indictment unless time is an essential element of the offense or is made a part of the description of it ... the State should not be allowed to prove a different date than that set forth in the indictment where the defendant relies upon the defense of alibi. . . .

State v. Pierce, 263 S.C. 23, 27, 207 S.E.2d 414, 416 (1974) (citation omitted).

"Time is not a material element of . . . committing a lewd act on a minor." State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 101, 654 S.E.2d 849, 855 (Ct. App. 2007); see also, State v. Baker, 390 S.C. 56, 62, 700 S.E.2d 440, 443 (Ct. App. 2010) ("time is not a material element of committing a lewd act on a minor"). As a result, the State need not prove the exact date the lewd act occurred.

The trial court charged the jury on the elements of committing a lewd act upon a minor as well as the State's burden of proof. (T.190-197; R. pp.165-172). The court then

explained in a single reference to the disputed charge: “Additionally, time is not a material element of the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor.” (T.197; R. p.172). This is a correct charge of the law because time is not a material element and does not have to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the State.

Additionally, the trial court gave an analogous charge in State v. Anderson, 59 S.C. 229, 37 S.E. 820 (1901). In Anderson, the defendant was charged with larceny, which did not require time as a material element similar to Petitioner’s lewd act charge.

The trial court charged the jury:

Time is not what we term of the essence of a crime when a theft or other criminal offense is said to have been committed at a certain time. The gist of the charge does not consist in proving that it was done at the exact time laid in the indictment. The gist is whether or not the crime as alleged was committed, and, if the state proves that it was committed at any time,-the particular charge contained in the indictment prior to the finding of the true bill,-that would be sufficient; but the state must prove the charge as contained in the indictment. It is not necessary, and the state is not required, to prove the exact time laid in the indictment; but, still, it must prove that substantial charge as having been committed at some date, certainly before the finding of the true bill.

Anderson, 37 S.E. at 821. This Court found the charge was proper and in accordance with the law of the state which does not require the State to prove the exact time where it is not a material element of the crime. Id. This Court should find the charge by the trial court in the instant case was not an improper charge, but instead was a proper charge of the law as it currently exists.

Finally, as the majority found, this case is analogous to the case of State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244 (2006). In Rayfield, the trial court charged the jury that the victim’s testimony need not be corroborated. This Court found the charge to

be a correct statement of law, but one which need not always be given. The Court concluded, however, when the charge is given it is not prejudicial as long as the charge is not unduly emphasized and the trial court properly charged the jury on the State's burden of proof and the jury's duty to find the facts and judge the credibility of witnesses. *Id.* at 117-118, 631 S.E.2d at 250. This is exactly what happened in the instant case. The charge was a single mention of the fact time is not of the essence. The trial court fully charged the State's burden of proof, the elements of the charge the jury did have to determine the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and the duty of the jury to find the facts and judge the credibility of the witnesses. As a result, the majority of the Court of Appeals, consistent with Rayfield, correctly determined any possible error in giving the charge did not prejudice Petitioner.²

Counsel was entitled to argue any alleged inconsistencies in the testimony, and did fully argue regarding the alleged inconsistencies, to the jury. He was free to argue regarding the credibility to assign to witnesses, including the victim. It was for the jury to determine what version of the facts to believe. The court, in instructing the jury, appropriately and correctly told the jury in making its determination of guilt that the exact date or time was not an element of the crime which the jury had to determine.

² See also, State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 508, 435 S.E.2d 859, 863 (1993) (finding a charge that included: "I charge you that time is not a material element of a sexual assault involving a child" was not prejudicial even when the appellant's defense was alibi).

II. The Court of Appeals properly found the trial court did not err in admitting the video recording of the forensic interview pursuant to Section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code because it did not impermissibly bolster the child's testimony.

The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial court properly admitted the video recording under section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code and the videotape did not impermissibly bolster the victim's testimony.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87 (2002). A court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error, which results in prejudice to the defendant. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 606 S.E.2d 215 (Ct. App. 2004). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

First, this Court found section 17-23-175 to be a valid legislative enactment that did not run afoul of either the United States or South Carolina Constitutions. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 559-560, 732 S.E.2d 861, 867 (2012). Specifically, the Court held:

Unless a legislative enactment concerning a matter of evidence violates the constitution, the legislative enactment is valid. See City of Rock Hill v. Harris, 391 S.C. 149, 154, 705 S.E.2d 53, 55 (2011) (holding that the General Assembly may enact any law not expressly, or by clear implication, prohibited by the state or federal constitutions).

.....

Section 17-23-175 is a valid legislative enactment.

Id.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals has previously found the bolstering effect of the video recording does not preclude its admission under the statute. See State v. Russell, 383 S.C. 447, 451, 679 S.E.2d 542, 544 (Ct. App. 2009). As the Court of Appeals discussed, in general, the admission of a prior consistent statement has been held to be hearsay and, when the statement has been admitted for the sole purpose of bolstering the credibility of a crucial witness, the error in admission is not harmless. See e.g., State v. Foster, 354 S.C. 614, 582 S.E.2d 426 (2003) (holding the admission of a witness's prior consistent statement, which clearly bolstered her crucial trial testimony, could not be considered harmless error). The statute in this case, however, has made a specific allowance for these out-of-court statements by child victims provided the above requirements have been met.³ Russell, 383 S.C. at 451, 679 S.E.2d at 544.

Further, the South Carolina Rules of Evidence specifically state they can be preempted by statute or other rule. See Rule 101, SCRE ("Except as otherwise provided by rule or by statute, these rules govern proceedings in the courts of South Carolina to the extent and with the exceptions stated in Rule 1101."). The hearsay rules or any other rules of evidence are superseded by the statute in determining the admissibility of the video recording.

It is clear the legislature intended to allow the video recording into evidence even though it will likely constitute hearsay under Rule 801, SCRE, and may run afoul of other rules of evidence. The legislative enactment requires the child to testify prior to allowing the video recording into evidence, which demonstrates the Legislature presupposed some

³ It should be noted Petitioner has not challenged the trial court's ruling that the requirements for admission of the videotape has been met. Accordingly, the unappealed finding of the trial court that the videotape met the requirements for admissibility under the statute is the law of the case. See State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (holding that an unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case).

bolstering will naturally occur and the bolstering was deemed acceptable. Additionally, the statute shows the Legislature of our State has made a public policy decision that admitting evidence of the child's prior statement will be beneficial to finding the truth in sexual crimes where there is a child victim. As a result, the court need not partake of the same analysis required of other evidence, and the video recording should not be excluded on the basis that it bolstered the minor victim's testimony. The trial court did not err in admitting the video recording because it did not impermissibly bolster the victim's testimony.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals.